RECEIVED

Feb 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025-CP-23-01757
Case No. 2025-CP-23-01759
Appellate Case No. 2025-002264

Kimberly Haag, Individually
and as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Raymond
Zeigler,

Respondent,

v.

Carlyle Senior Care of Fountain Inn,
LLC; Carlyle Senior Care Management
Company, Inc.; New Day Health
Ventures, LLC; LARK of Fountain Inn,
LLC; Fountain Inn Healthcare, LLC
d/b/a Fountain Inn Post Acute;
Providence Group, Inc.; Providence
Administrative Consulting Services,
Inc.; PACS Group, Inc.; PACS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.
- II. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to delegate questions of arbitrability to an arbitrator pursuant to the delegation clause.
- III. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration but allowing jurisdictional discovery.
- IV. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to proceed to a trial on questions of arbitrability pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about the circuit court's inconsistent decision to deny Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration of a valid and enforceable Arbitration Agreement without ruling on the merits and simultaneously grant jurisdictional discovery to resolve questions of arbitrability for consideration of a subsequent motion.

On December 22, 2022, Kimberly Haag ("Respondent"), on behalf of Raymond Zeigler, entered into an Admission Agreement to admit Mr. Zeigler to Appellant Carlyle Senior Care of Fountain Inn, LLC ("CSC Fountain Inn"), a skilled nursing facility affiliated with Appellants Carlyle Senior Care Management Company, Inc., New Day Health Ventures, LLC, and LARK of Fountain Inn, LLC (collectively, "Appellants"). (Appellants' Mot. Ex. B). The Admission Agreement contained a Mediation and Binding Arbitration Agreement, which Respondent also signed. (Id. pp. 36-40). Zeigler appointed Respondent in a General Durable Power of Attorney ("GDPOA") on May 8, 2018, and recorded said GDPOA on May 10, 2018. (Appellants' Mot. Ex. A). The GDPOA stated in part:

My Attorney-in-Fact may . . . arbitrate . . . any and all legal, equitable, judicial, or administrative hearings, actions, suits, or proceedings involving me in any way. This authority includes, but is not limited to, claims by or against me arising out of . . . personal

injury suffered by or caused by me or under circumstances such that the resulting loss may be imposed on me. . . .

My Attorney-in-Fact may enter into, execute, modify, alter, or amend any contract or agreement (for example, a Caregiver Agreement or Personal Services Contract) pertaining to my medical, personal, or general care that I may require at my residence, assisted living facility, nursing facility, or in another's residence on my behalf. . . .

This General Durable Power of Attorney is a general power of attorney and should be interpreted as granting my Attorney-in-Fact all general powers permitted under South Carolina law. The description of specific powers is not intended to, nor does it, limit or restrict any of the general powers granted to my Attorney-in-Fact.

(Id. Ex. A pp. 7, 14, 22). The Arbitration Agreement stated in part:

“Resident” “you” and “your” refers to the Resident identified above who is being admitted to the Facility. Resident also includes Resident’s legally Designated Representative(s), Resident’s Responsible Party, Resident’s family, and anyone situated in such a manner so as to assert a Claim against the Facility.

“Resident’s Legally Designated Representative” refers to the person who possesses actual legal authority to conduct affairs and make decisions on behalf of the Resident. This person includes, but is not limited to, the person who has been appointed as Guardian for the resident, and/or the person who possesses a Power of Attorney executed by the Resident.

“Resident’s Responsible Party” refers to . . . the person identified as the Resident’s Responsible Party in the Admission materials executed by Resident and/or Resident’s Legally Designated Representative, and who has agreed to serve as the primary point of contact for communications between the Facility and the Resident’s family.

“Facility” refers to the Facility identified above, and includes the Facility’s employees, agents, subcontractors, and parent and affiliated companies . . . and their employees and agents.

“Parties” and **“party”** refers to persons and entities defined within the scope of “Resident” and “Facility. . . .

Intent of the Parties. The Parties expressly intend that all matters be resolved by arbitration, including, but not limited to, resolving any questions regarding the applicability and/or enforceability of this Agreement as well as resolving all Claims, existing presently or in the future, between the parties without regard for whether such Claims are presently known or unknown.

Scope of Agreement: . . . [T]he Parties expressly intend that the binding arbitration provisions of this Agreement apply to any and all Claims arising out of the relationship between the Parties, without regard for the nature of the Claim(s), the facts alleged to support or refute the Claim(s), or circumstances from which the alleged Claim(s) arose. This means that neither the Facility nor the Resident will be able to file a lawsuit in court to resolve any Claim(s) against the other. It also means that both the Facility and the Resident are relinquishing their right to a trial by judge and/or jury to resolve any Claim(s) against the other. The Parties freely choose arbitration, and the Parties understand that the arbitrator's decision is final and binding. . . .

Involvement of Interstate Commerce: The Facility expressly represents and provides notice to the Resident that the Facility must and will engage in interstate commerce in the course of its relationship with Resident. The Resident is aware of this fact, acknowledges this fact, and explicitly expects that interstate commerce will be involved in the course of the relationship between the parties. The resident agrees that (s)he could specifically seek residency at a different facility if Resident expected and/or desired to reside in a facility that did not and would not engage in interstate commerce in the course of the relationship between the parties, which includes, but is not limited to, the provision of care to the Resident. Therefore, it is the express intent and expectation of the Parties that the care provided by the Facility to the Resident will and does involve, implicate, and affect interstate commerce. . . .

Exclusion from Arbitration. The Parties expressly agree to exclude the following Claim(s) from binding arbitration: (1) guardianship proceedings resulting from the alleged incapacity of the Resident; (2) Claim(s) involving less than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00); (3) Claim(s) brought after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations; and (4) any Claim that the Parties mutually agree to resolve in a manner not entertaining binding arbitration, either as set forth at the time the Parties execute this Agreement, or as later mutually agreed upon in writing by both Parties. . . .

Right to Legal Counsel. . . . Because this Agreement addresses important legal rights, the Facility encourages and recommends that the Resident obtain the advice and assistance of legal counsel to review the legal significance of this binding arbitration provision either prior to signing this Agreement, or subsequent to signing but within the rescission period. Should any Party fail to obtain legal counsel at any point, they do so willingly and voluntarily. . . .

Limited Right to Rescind this Agreement. Resident or, in the event of Resident's incapacity, Resident's Legally Designated Representative, has the right to rescind this Agreement by notifying the Facility in writing within thirty (30) days of the date set forth above. . . .

Entire Agreement. . . . This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto, their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, purchasers and assigns.

(Id. Ex. B pp. 36-40).

During Mr. Zeigler's admission, Co-Appellant Fountain Inn Healthcare, LLC d/b/a Fountain Inn Post Acute ("Post Acute") assumed continued operations of the facility pursuant to a Management Operations Transfer Agreement ("OTA"). (Co-Appellants' Mem. Ex. C). The OTA included routine provisions for the transfer of the state license, Medicare provider agreement, employee agreements, and the transfer of resident information, i.e. admission agreements, billing information, insurance information and medical records from CSC Fountain Inn to Post Acute, giving Post Acute immediate access to all necessary information and stated in part:

In order to facilitate transition of operational and financial responsibilities from Licensee to New Operator in a manner in which will ensure the continued operation of the Facility after the Operations Transfer Date in compliance with applicable law and in a manner which does not jeopardize the health and welfare of the residents of the Facility, Licensee and New Operator desire to document the terms and conditions on which New Operator will manage the Facility

New Operator shall reasonably cooperate, participate in and be responsible for any survey, inspection, or site investigation conducted by a Governmental Authority or . . . entity If the

survey, inspection, or site investigation is related to operations prior to the Operations Transfer Date, New Operator shall reasonably cooperate and participate in such events, but Licensee shall remain responsible for the survey.

New Operator shall not assume any claims, lawsuits, liabilities . . . of Licensee . . . relating to, occurring or arising out of, . . . the operation of the Facility that . . . occurred or arose prior to the Operations Transfer Date, even if it is not asserted until after the Operations Transfer Date

(Id.).

Respondent has acknowledged that she was Mr. Zeigler's power of attorney and had authorization to sign the Arbitration Agreement. (Tr. p. 20, lines 20-22). Nevertheless, when Respondent asserted claims against Appellants and Co-Appellants surrounding events alleged to have occurred while Mr. Zeigler was a resident of the facility, she filed survival and wrongful death lawsuits instead of submitting her claims to arbitration. (SA Compl.; WD Compl.). Appellants moved to compel arbitration on the same day and before they answered the Complaint. (Appellants' Mot.).

Respondent opposed the motion, claiming that the Arbitration Agreement was in a larger stack of documents with additional places for her to sign and that Appellants never explained the Agreement to her, which allegedly violated federal regulation. (Resp't Aff.; Resp't Mem. pp. 10-14). Appellants and their Co-Appellants explained to the circuit court that the regulation upon which Respondent relied pertains to Medicare and Medicaid eligibility and offers guidance to surveyors evaluating long-term care facilities that accept Medicare and Medicaid payments but does not override basic contract law. (Tr. p. 10, lines 20-25; p. 11, lines 1-25; p. 12, lines 1-9; p. 17, lines 9-24). Respondent further argued that the Arbitration Agreement was unenforceable because no arbitration forum and/or arbitrator was designated; that it was unenforceable as to the

wrongful death beneficiary, solely Respondent; and that it was inapplicable to all Defendants. (Resp't Mem.; Resp't Dep. 39:1-39:3).

The circuit court *denied* Appellants' motion in a form order without addressing the parties' specific arguments on the merits but also *granted* the parties thirty days to engage in jurisdictional discovery and ruled that the matter could be "reset" if appropriate thereafter. (Sept. 22, 2025, Orders). Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, in which they requested that the circuit court reconsider its ruling denying their Motion to Compel Arbitration in part because it was inconsistent with the ruling granting jurisdictional discovery. (Appellants' Mot. Recons.). Appellants also requested additional time for the jurisdictional discovery. (Id.). Appellants and Co-Appellants took Respondent's deposition in the meantime as part of said jurisdictional discovery, in which Respondent testified that she did not read, review, or ask any questions about the Arbitration Agreement even though she was not prevented from doing the same nor did she recall what she was told about the documents she signed. (Resp't Dep. 9:7-9:18; 20:25 - 21:2; c.f. Resp't Aff. ¶ 6-7). In response to Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration, the circuit court granted an additional forty-five days for jurisdictional discovery and clarified that "reset" meant Appellants could refile their Motion to Compel Arbitration at the conclusion of jurisdictional discovery for a hearing on the merits but did not otherwise alter its previous ruling. (Oct. 24, 2025, Orders). Accordingly, the Motion to Compel Arbitration remains denied despite the circuit court never issuing a ruling on the merits.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has de novo review over arbitrability determinations. *Arredondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC*, 433 S.C. 69, 74, 856 S.E.2d 550, 553 (2021).

ARGUMENTS

There are two reasons why this Court should reverse.

First, the circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration because the Arbitration Agreement was valid and enforceable and covered Respondent's claims. Both the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") and the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act ("SCUAA") require courts to order arbitration when a valid arbitration agreement that covers the claims asserted exists.¹ There is no serious dispute that Respondent was presented with the Arbitration Agreement and signed the same. Nevertheless, it appears that the circuit court may have improperly disregarded the plain language of the Arbitration Agreement. The law is clear that courts should interpret contracts according to the plain meaning of the language used therein and that a contracting party has no obligation to explain the contents of a contract to the other contracting party because all parties to a contract have a duty to read its contents before signing.

Second, even if some aspect of arbitrability was in issue, the circuit court erred in deciding to reset Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration after jurisdictional discovery because (1) there was a delegation clause in the Arbitration Agreement that clearly and unmistakably evidenced that an arbitrator rather than the circuit court was to resolve all matters, including questions regarding the applicability and/or enforceability of the Agreement, which the circuit court was required to

¹ While the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable under either the FAA or SCUUA, the FAA applies here because the parties' relationship involved interstate commerce. *See Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 287, 733 S.E.2d 597, 600 (Ct. App. 2012) ("[T]he [FAA] applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce" (quoting *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001))); *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381-82, 759 S.E.2d 717, 732-33 (2014) (holding the terms of a residency agreement for a skilled nursing facility implicated interstate commerce because the facility was contractually required to provide meals and medical supplies, which are instrumentalities of interstate commerce). The parties agreed to as much. (Appellants' Mot. Ex. B p. 37).

honor and (2) the circuit court was alternatively required to continue its ruling on the Motion until after the completion of jurisdictional discovery then proceed to a trial on any unresolved issues of arbitrability. The Court should reverse and remand for arbitration of Respondent's claims. Alternatively, this Court should remand for an arbitrator to determine arbitrability or, if not, reverse and remand for the circuit court to decide arbitrability after limited discovery and proceed to a trial on arbitrability of the remaining issues, if any.

I. The circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

a. The Arbitration Agreement was valid and enforceable and covered Respondent's claims.

Courts should compel arbitration pursuant to an arbitration agreement when "(1) there is a valid agreement, and (2) the claims fall within the scope of the agreement." *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 336, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019). Beginning with the latter, the plain language of an arbitration agreement dictates whether claims fall within the agreement's scope. *See, e.g., Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 524 S.E.2d 839, 844 (Ct. App. 1999) ("The agreement's plain language covers [the] claims Consequently, we hold the arbitration agreement covers [the] claims."). The subject Arbitration Agreement specifically stated that it applies to "any and all Claims arising out of the relationship between the Parties, without regard for the nature of the Claim(s), the facts alleged to support or refute the Claim(s), or circumstances from which the alleged Claim(s) arose." (Appellants' Mot. Ex. B p. 37). The only excluded claims were "(1) guardianship proceedings resulting from the alleged incapacity of the Resident; (2) Claim(s) involving less than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00); (3) Claim(s) brought after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations; and (4) any Claim that the Parties mutually agree to resolve in a manner not entertaining binding arbitration." (Id. p. 39). None of these exclusions apply here, so the Arbitration Agreement clearly encompassed Respondent's claims.

As to validity, an arbitration agreement is valid if the parties thereto had authority to execute it and did so in accordance with general contract principles. When an arbitration agreement is executed by an agent pursuant to a power of attorney, the agent's authority to bind the principal to arbitration depends on whether the language of the power of attorney grants said authority, either in a provision specifically granting the authority or in a broad provision that encompasses the authority. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 577, 828 S.E.2d 82, 87 (Ct. App. 2019) (explaining the plain language of a power of attorney determines the authority granted thereunder); *Kindred Nursing Ctrs. Ltd. P'ship v. Clark*, 581 U.S. 246, 254-56 (2017) (establishing that an agent can execute an arbitration agreement pursuant to a power of attorney if it contains language granting broad general authority that encompasses the authority to execute arbitration agreements regardless of whether there is express language to that effect); *Arredondo*, 433 S.C. at 80, 856 S.E.2d at 556 (acknowledging the same).

The GDPOA here states, "My Attorney-in-Fact may . . . arbitrate . . . any and all legal, equitable, judicial, or administrative hearings, actions, suits, or proceedings involving me in any way." (Appellants' Mot. Ex. A p. 7). The GDPOA further states, "My Attorney-in-Fact may enter into, execute, modify, alter, or amend any contract or agreement . . . pertaining to my medical, personal, or general care that I may require at my . . . nursing facility" as well as, "The [GDPOA] is a general power of attorney and should be interpreted as granting my Attorney-in-Fact all general powers permitted under South Carolina law. The description of specific powers is not intended to, nor does it, limit or restrict any of the general powers granted." (Id. p. 14, 22). Therefore, the language in the GDPOA granted Respondent both express and broad authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement. Further and more importantly, Respondent has acknowledged and does not dispute that she possessed this authority. (Tr. p. 20, lines 20-22).

A person with legal authority to execute an arbitration agreement enters a contract to arbitrate the same way she would enter any other type of contract—by accepting an offer established with consideration. *Lampo v. Amedisys Holdings, LLC*, 445 S.C. 305, 311, 914 S.E.2d 139, 142 (2025) (“An arbitration agreement, of course, is a contract. The elements necessary for the formation of any contract are (1) an offer, (2) acceptance of the offer, and (3) the mutual exchange of benefits the law calls ‘consideration.’ A party seeking to compel arbitration must demonstrate the existence of a valid contract to arbitrate by establishing these three elements.”). Signing an arbitration agreement constitutes acceptance thereof. *See id.* at 311, 914 S.E.2d at 143 (“The typical action an offeree takes to accept an offer is to sign a writing that sets forth the offer”). The mutual obligation to arbitrate constitutes consideration. *See Boyd v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 399 S.C. 401, 407, 732 S.E.2d 180, 183 (Ct. App. 2012) (“Valuable consideration for a contract may consist of some forbearance given or detriment suffered.” (quoting *Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 304, 468 S.E.2d 292, 300 (1996))); *O’Niel v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 115 F.3d 272, 275 (4th Cir. 1997) (“A mutual promise to arbitrate constitutes sufficient consideration for [an] arbitration agreement.”) (citing *Rickborn*, 321 S.C. 291, 468 S.E.2d 292)).

Here, Appellants communicated the offer of the Arbitration Agreement by presenting it to Respondent, and Respondent accepted the offer by signing the same. The mutual obligation to arbitrate therein established consideration. Therefore, Respondent and Appellants made a valid Arbitration Agreement.

b. Respondent’s representations and arguments did not justify invalidating the Arbitration Agreement for any reason or as to any party or claim.

Because the circuit court did not provide a ruling on the merits, it is unclear what the Court considered in its ruling. Based on Plaintiff’s arguments, the circuit court may have considered contract defenses such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability based on Respondent’s affidavit and

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