RECEIVED

Mar 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William C. McMaster III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002264

Kimberly Haag, Individually and Respondent,
as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Raymond Zeigler,

v.

Carlyle Senior Care of Fountain
Inn, LLC, Carlyle Senior Care
Management Company, Inc.,
New Day Health Ventures,
LLC, LARK of Fountain Inn
LLC, Fountain Inn Healthcare
LLC d/b/a Fountain Inn Post-
Acute, Providence Group, Inc.
Providence Administrative
Consulting Services, Inc., PACS
Group, Inc., PACS Holdings, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

1. The Arbitration Agreement’s delegation clause did not prevent the circuit court from addressing Daughter’s contract formation arguments.

The Providence Appellants begin their brief challenging the circuit court ruling’s structure rather than its substance. While Daughter contests the very notion that she or Mr. Zeigler ever formed an arbitration contract with any Appellant, the Providence Appellants point to a provision of the contested Arbitration Agreement to conclude Daughter can only make that argument to an arbitrator. (Providence App. Br. at 13-20). Appellants insist U.S. Supreme Court precedent demands such a curious result. Id.; Carlyle App. Br. at 17-18. But, Appellants misread that precedent and overlook an important recent holding from the South Carolina Supreme Court. What these cases actually show is what common sense dictates: a party challenging the very existence of an arbitration contract cannot have her right to litigate that dispute removed by a provision within the same dubious contract.

Arbitration, the shift of a legal dispute from a judicial to less formal setting, arises by contractual agreement. When an initial challenge is posed to that agreement, questions arise as to whether a court or arbitrator is the proper decision maker to resolve it. The general rule is that

these are matters for a court to address. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001); Doctor’s Assocs., Inc. v. Alemayehu, 934 F.3d 245, 250-51 (2d Cir. 2019). However, courts recognize parties may alter this general rule in their contract. Using a so-called “delegation clause,” parties may confer to arbitration not just the substantive aspects of their business duties but also certain disputes regarding the contract embodying those duties. Doe v. TCSC, LLC, 430 S.C. 602, 607, 846 S.E.2d 874, 876 (Ct. App. 2020). Here, Appellants point to an Arbitration Agreement provision purporting to require arbitration for “any questions regarding the applicability and/or enforceability of this Agreement.” (Providence App. Br. at 14; Carlyle App. Br. at 18) (quoting Arb. Agr. at 2 § II(a)). Appellants then argue a combination of that contract language and U.S. Supreme Court precedent means the circuit court was required to simply grant their motions and leave all of Daughter’s Arbitration Agreement challenges to an arbitrator. Id. (citing Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson, 561 U.S. 63, 68 (2010); Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 395 (1967)).

Appellants misread the precedent as the Supreme Court has never held or hinted that a delegation clause could force arbitration on the type of challenges Daughter raises here. Prima Paint interpreted the Federal Arbitration Act’s (“FAA”) rules governing a hearing on a party’s request to send litigation to arbitration. 9 U.S.C. § 4. Section 4 calls for a trial court to order arbitration “upon being satisfied that the making of the agreement for arbitration . . . is not in issue.” By limiting the judicial role to considering the making of “the agreement for arbitration,” Prima Paint concluded the FAA did not allow courts to address challenges to the validity of the larger agreement (or “container contract”) in which an arbitration provision may be located. 388 U.S. at 403-04. Thus, what has become known as the Prima Paint doctrine is a “severability rule,” requiring courts to separate challenges to the validity of an arbitration provision from those

targeting the validity of the container contract more broadly. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440, 444 (2006). Courts address only the first category. Rent-A-Center expanded on the Prima Paint doctrine by applying it to an arbitration contract containing a delegation provision—meaning that discrete challenges to a delegation clause may be decided by a court but a challenge to the validity of the arbitration agreement more broadly must be resolved by an arbitrator. Rent-A-Center, 561 U.S. at 72.

That is where Appellants leave the analysis. Citing Prima Paint and Rent-A-Center, they go through Daughter’s challenges to the Arbitration Agreement argument-by-argument, labeling each one as a challenge to the container contract rather than the delegation clause specifically, and concluding each must be decided by an arbitrator. (Providence App. Br. at 17-19). In so doing, Appellants miss a crucial piece of the analytical framework. The Prima Paint doctrine has never covered every type of arbitration challenge a party like Daughter could raise. Johnson v. Continental Fin. Co., LLC, 131 F.4th 169, 177 (4th Cir. 2025) (noting Prima Paint did not “address[] contract formation”). Prima Paint only addressed challenges to a contract’s “validity” which is “different from the issue whether any agreement between the parties was ever concluded.” Rent-A-Center, 561 U.S. at 70 n. 2; Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc., 546 U.S. at 444 n. 1 (“validity” is different than “the issue of whether any agreement” was ever formed).

Thus, as South Carolina appellate courts have recognized, Appellants’ approach omits a crucial third type of arbitration challenge. In addition to challenges to the validity of a delegation clause and challenges to the validity of its container contract, there are also challenges to the *formation* of any contract between the proposed parties. The South Carolina Supreme Court recently made this important distinction after reviewing Prima Paint and its progeny. Sanders

v. Savannah Hwy. Auto. Co., 440 S.C. 377, 892 S.E.2d 112 (2023) (citing In re Morgan Stanley & Co., 293 S.W.3d 182, 187 (Tex. 2009) (recognizing “a third discrete category to the Prima Paint analysis . . . a challenge to whether any agreement was ever concluded”). So, when placed in its proper context, the Prima Paint severability rule targets issues related to a contract’s “validity,” not contract formation challenges.

Sanders is unequivocal in holding that contract formation challenges must always be resolved by a court—regardless of the text of a delegation provision. 440 S.C. at 388, 892 S.E.2d at 118 (“the court is always the proper body to determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate in the first instance” and “[i]t is clear courts must determine issues of contract formation”). Accordingly, Appellants’ entire delegation clause argument stems from a misinterpretation of the Prima Paint doctrine. The distinction between contract-wide and delegation clause-specific challenges simply does not apply to Daughter’s arguments that she never formed an agreement to arbitrate with Appellants. See Will-Drill Resources, Inc. v. Samson Resources Co., 352 F.3d 211, 218 (5th Cir. 2003) (“the separability doctrine [from Prima Paint] rests on the assumption that there is an underlying agreement”).

To rule otherwise would create statutory, contract law, and equitable problems. A fundamental arbitration principle holds that a party cannot be forced to arbitration for any matter that she has not contractually agreed to do so. A properly formed contract is a *sine qua non* for arbitration on any issue which means a formation dispute simply cannot be delegated to an arbitrator. The FAA and rudimentary contract law principles will not allow it. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Hub Int’l Ltd., 944 F.3d 225, 234 n. 9 (4th Cir. 2019) (delegation clause cannot be read to “undermine [9 U.S.C § 4] and preclude a court from deciding that a party never made an agreement to arbitrate *any* issue” (emphasis in original); Doctor’s Assocs., 934 F.3d at 251 (“An agreement

that has not been properly formed is not merely an unenforceable contract; it is not a contract at all. And if it is not a contract, it cannot serve as the basis for compelling arbitration.”). As several courts have held, directing a case to arbitration without addressing whether the arbitration contract was even properly formed “put[s] the cart before the horse.” Johnson, 131 F.4th at 175; Nat’l Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Stucco Sys., LLC, 289 F. Suppl. 3d 457, 466 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). In short, no matter how far Appellants claim the delegation clause reaches, it does not extend to any challenge Daughter makes to the Arbitration Agreement’s formation. K.F.C. v. Snap Inc., 29 F.4th 835, 837 (7th Cir. 2022) (“the breadth of a delegation is irrelevant if the parties did not enter into a contract.”).

“Formation” and “validity” challenges differ in their impact. “Formation challenges render the whole contract unenforceable” while a validity challenge “requires courts to discern which parts [of] the agreement are invalid.” Johnson, 131 F.4th at 176. For example, a party challenges “formation” not “validity” when contesting the authenticity of a signature on the purported arbitration agreement or the legal authority/mental capacity of the signor. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc., 546 U.S. at 444 n. 1; Sanders, 440 S.C. at 388, 892 S.E.2d at 117 (citing Sandvik AB v. Advent Int’l Corp., 220 F.3d 99, 107 (3d Cir. 2000)). All of Daughter’s arguments against the Arbitration Agreement are contract “formation” challenges rather than the “validity” challenges covered by the Prima Paint severability rule. Daughter argues the failed exclusive arbitral forum provision is a material term rendering the Arbitration Agreement illusory. Whether a document purporting to be an arbitration agreement is actually an illusory contract is a “formation” question. Johnson, 131 F.4th at 173 (“it was for the court, not the arbitrator, to determine whether the contract was illusory”). Daughter then argues she never formed an agreement to arbitrate with New Owner, the assignee of management and control over the facility in the 2023 transfer. This too is

a formation issue—i.e. challenging whether Daughter and New Owner ever had a contract. I.S. Joseph Co., Inc. v. Mich. Sugar Co., 803 F.2d 396, 400 (8th Cir. 1986) (citing Am. Safety Equip. Corp. v. J.P. Maguire & Co., 391 F.2d 821, 828-29 (2d Cir. 1968) (finding a court, “not the arbitrator, must determine whether an assignee of an arbitration clause can enforce the agreement against one of the original parties”); Elzinga & Voklers, Inc. v. LSSC Corp., 838 F. Supp. 1306, 1310 (N.D. Ind. 1993) (finding validity of assignment of contract containing arbitration provision “goes to the existence of a contract to arbitrate and therefore must be determined by the court”).

Daughter’s third challenge asserts that she never had a contract with several appellants who were not signatories to the Arbitration Agreement. Courts routinely label questions about non-signatory rights to be matters of contract formation. RUAG Ammotec GmbH v. Arch on Firearms, Inc., 538 P.3d 428, 433 (Nev. 2023) (“Where a nonsignatory is involved in a motion to compel arbitration under a contract, there is a question as to the very existence of an agreement involving the nonsignatory”); Jody James Farms, JV v. Altman Group, Inc., 547 S.W.3d 624, 628 (Tex. 2018) (“Determining whether a claim involving a non-signatory must be arbitrated is a gateway matter for the trial court, not the arbitrator”); Schoenfeld v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC, 532 F. Supp. 3d 506, 510 (S.D. Ohio 2021). Finally, Daughter contests the Arbitration Agreement as illegal because it was presented and executed in violation of federal law. Whether a contract is illegal is also recognized as a “formation” question. Riverwalk Apartments, L.P. v. RTM Gen. Contractors, Inc., 779 So.2d 537, 538 (Fla. App. 2d Dist. 2000) (“A party who alleges and offers colorable evidence that a contract containing an arbitration clause is illegal cannot be compelled to arbitrate the threshold issue of the existence of the agreement to arbitrate; only a court can make that determination”).

In sum, the circuit court was correct to address each of Daughter's challenges to the Arbitration Agreement rather than sending them to arbitration. Daughter points to several legal principles showing an arbitration contract between Appellants and her never actually existed. The U.S. and South Carolina Supreme Court both recognize contract formation disputes like the ones Daughter raised cannot be compelled to arbitration regardless of any delegation provision in the purported arbitration contract.

2. The Arbitration Agreement lacked the required “meeting of the minds” to form a contract.

An attempted agreement does not amount to a legally formed contract in the absence of operable terms on essential components of the proposed transaction. Who will serve as arbitrator and the basic way in which arbitration proceedings take place are essential components of a purported arbitration contract. Since the Arbitration Agreement's provision on these essential components fail, no arbitration contract was ever formed here.

South Carolina common law holds that any contract must have a “meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement.” Player v. Chandler, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891 (1989). The “meeting of the minds” requirement is not a mere interpretative principle but rather an essential component for contract formation. Id. (discussing “[t]his ‘meeting of the minds’ required to *make a contract* . . .”) (emphasis added). What constitutes an “essential” or “material” term can vary based on a contract's subject matter, but the South Carolina Supreme Court has ruled that, in the arbitration contract context, a “choice of forum” provision can rise to that level. Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc., 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 435, 438 (2009) (quoting Brown v. ITT Consumer Fin. Corp., 211 F.3d 1217, 1220 (11th Cir. 2000)). That is true because designating a specific arbitrator can have “wide-ranging substantive implications” on everything from who will be making decisions to what

standards will be applied in the decision making process. Grant, 383 S.C. at 132, 678 S.E.2d at 439 (quoting Singleton v. Grade A Market, Inc., 607 F. Supp. 2d 333, 339 (D. Conn. 2009)). When a choice of forum term is material and its provisions fail, so does the purported contract as a whole. Grant, 383 S.C. at 132, 678 S.E.2d at 439 (affirming circuit court’s denial of motion to compel arbitration).

Five years after Grant, the Court returned to the issue to explain what constitutes an essential, material, and “integral” choice of forum provision in an attempted nursing home arbitration contract. Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, 408 S.C. 371, 383, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014). After surveying cases from other jurisdictions, Dean adopted the majority rule holding that a choice of forum provision requiring arbitration be “administered by” a designated entity is an integral term while a provision merely requiring arbitration occur “in accordance with” a certain entity’s rules is not. 408 S.C. at 384, 759 S.E.2d at 734.

Using the Grant and Dean analysis, the Arbitration Agreement choice of forum provision is an essential, material, and integral term. (Arbitration Agreement at 3 § II(b)). It uses mandatory language, stating that arbitration “shall” go before the designated entities. Id. It also does far more than adopt those entities’ procedural rules. Using the precise language discussed in Grant and Dean, this provision requires arbitration be “administered by” the designated entities. Id. Moreover, as in Grant, this integral choice of forum provision fails because the designated entities are unavailable. The National Arbitration Forum (“NAF”) is unavailable because, after being sued by its home state’s attorney general for consumer fraud, NAF agreed to stop administering any form of consumer arbitration. Miller v. GGNSC Atlanta, LLC, 746 S.E.2d 680, 683 (Ga. App.

2013). Disputes arising from nursing home negligence falls squarely within the NAF ban on “consumer” arbitration. Id. at 683 n. 5.²

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